

D'ÉTUDES PROSPECTIVES ET D'INFORMATIONS INTERNATIONALES No 2012 – 27 October

Product relatedness and firm exports in China

Sandra Poncet and Felipe Starosta de Waldemar

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Non-technical summary.	3
Abstract	4
Résumé non technique	5
Résumé court	5
1. Introduction	7
2. Indicators and Data	9
2.1. Product relatedness	9
2.2. Product density	10
3. Empirical estimations	12
3.1. Empirical specification	12
3.2. Results	13
4. Conclusion	24
5. References	25
6. Appendix	27
List of working papers released by CEPII.	28



#### **PRODUCT RELATEDNESS AND FIRM EXPORTS IN CHINA**

Sandra Poncet and Felipe Starosta de Waldemar

#### NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

One of the most impressive dimensions of China's stellar export performance is its rapid products diversification. Since the 1980s, products "Made in China" have pervaded all sectors of world trade, including those typical of more developed countries, such as high-tech electronics and computers. China's rapid export upgrading is especially puzzling as the production of goods requires capabilities and products which vary greatly in their knowledge requirements. Since countries can only diversify by building on what they already have, China's export diversification suggests a particularly efficient ability to capitalize on its existing productive knowledge and exploit the links between products. Recent work has argued that the main factor behind successful upgrading is the consistency of the new industries with the country's latent (and evolving) comparative advantages.

We here empirically test this proposition using 2000-2006 Chinese firm-level data to investigate the link between export performance and the consistency of products with the local productive structure. The density of links between a product and the local product space is calculated by combining information on the local pattern of specialization and the intrinsic relatedness of the product. We thus contribute to the recent revival of literature on the role of structural transformation as an engine of economic growth. The main argument is that not all products have the same degree of relatedness (and hence the same position in the product space); as a result products have different potential, notably as platforms for jumping up to new economic activities. A greater link density between products is predicted to yield positive spillovers, such as knowledge externalities and economies of scale and scope. This relationship between production structure and economic performance has been found in a number of macro-level pieces of work: countries specialized in products with dense connections to other goods grow faster. The analysis we propose here is micro-level. We exploit Chinese firm-level data to see whether the product space also matters at the level of individual exporters. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first analysis of the efficiency gains from product spillovers on firm export performance.

Analogously to the country-level effect, we expect link density between products to yield a premium for products that are close to those in the local export basket. The underlying idea is that they will then share similar requirements in terms of institutions, infrastructure, resources, technology, or some combination thereof. Products with denser connections to the local productive structure should grow faster as they can capitalize on existing local capabilities. We focus on export growth to measure economic performance. Our analysis thus connects the macro literature on the links between productive structure and development to the micro literature on firm-level export performance. We focus on the role of product spillovers in the dynamics of product-level exports. Our empirical results suggest that products that are closer to the local export basket receive a premium in firm export bundles. This is consistent with economies of scale and scope and knowledge spillovers from product-level relatedness. Product spillovers produce export upgrading as producers move through the product space by reallocating their activity towards these connected goods.

We consider potential heterogeneity in the impact of product-level connections with the local productive structure according to firm ownership (foreign or domestic), trade type (processing or ordinary) and firm productivity. Fewer spillover gains may emanate from processing and foreign activities as they are less embedded in the local economy. In addition, the distinct functioning of foreign firms, which are mainly engaged in export-platform activities using imported inputs, may limit the spillovers they generate and from which they can benefit. We further investigate whether the gains from product consistency with the local structure are contingent on firm productivity. Potential spillovers may not be realized if firms do not undertake the appropriate technological effort or have limited absorptive capacity.

We confirm that product-level relatedness with the local productive structure plays a significant role in the export performance of Chinese firms. We show that within a firm's export basket, export growth is systematically higher for products characterized by greater consistency with local capabilities. The positive effect of product relatedness on firm export performance is however mainly limited to ordinary trade activities and domestic firms. We further suggest that the export benefits from consistency with local comparative advantage are greater for high-productivity firms. This is consistent with impediments to spillovers related to the limited absorption capacity of firms. Product spillovers are hence no substitute for insufficient productivity.

## ABSTRACT

We propose the first evaluation using micro-level data of the expected growth gains from the consistency of activities with local comparative advantage. Using firm level data from Chinese customs over 2000-2006, we investigate the relationship between the export performance of firms and how their products relate to local comparative advantage. Our key indicator measures the density of the links between a product and the local product space. It hence combines information on the intrinsic relatedness of a good to that on the local pattern of specialization. Our results indicate that exports grow faster for goods that have denser links with those currently produced in the firm's locality. The density of links between products thus seems to yield export-enhancing spillovers. We however also show that this positive effect of product relatedness on export performance is mainly limited to ordinary trade activities and domestic firms. It is also stronger for more productive firms, suggesting that spillover diffusion may be hindered by insufficient absorptive capacity.

JEL Classification:F1, O11, O14, O40, O53, R1Key Words:Product space, density, spillovers, export performance, China

CEPII, WP No 2012 - 27

Product relatedness and firm exports in China



### **R**ELATION INTER-PRODUITS ET EXPORTATIONS DES ENTREPRISES

#### Sandra Poncet et Felipe Starosta de Waldemar

#### **RÉSUMÉ NON TECHNIQUE**

L'un des aspects les plus impressionnants de la performance commerciale de la Chine est la diversification rapide des produits qu'elle exporte. Depuis les années 1980, les produits "Made in China" ont envahi tous les secteurs du commerce mondial, y compris ceux généralement considérés comme appartenant à des domaines de spécialisation des pays développés tels que l'électronique de pointe ou les ordinateurs. La montée en gamme des exportations chinoises est particulièrement impressionnante car elle exige des compétences et des connaissances très variées. Dans la mesure où un pays ne peut se diversifier qu'en s'appuyant sur ce qu'il a déjà, cette montée en gamme suggère qu'une capitalisation particulièrement efficace des connaissances productives existantes a permis à la Chine d'exploiter les liens entre les produits. Les analyses empiriques sur données macroéconomiques signalent en effet que le principal facteur de réussite du processus de modernisation est la cohérence des nouvelles industries du pays avec les avantages comparatifs locaux : les pays qui sont spécialisés dans les produits avant des connexions denses avec l'ensemble des autres produits paraissent se développer plus rapidement. Notre analyse établit un pont entre la littérature macroéconomique sur les liens entre structure productive et développement et la littérature microéconomique sur les déterminants des performances à l'exportation des entreprises. Partant de l'idée que tous les produits ont des degrés de parenté différents et donc des positions distinctes dans l'espace-produit, nous nous demandons si ces positions jouent aussi au niveau des firmes individuelles. Comme dans le cas des pays, nous nous attendons à ce que la densité des liens entre les produits procure une prime aux produits qui sont les plus proches des autres. Une connexion dense avec le reste de la structure productive locale permettrait aux firmes de capitaliser sur les capacités existantes et devrait favoriser leurs performances (appréhendées ici par la croissance de leurs exportations). Ces externalités produisent une montée en gamme au fil de la trajectoire des producteurs au sein de l'espace-produit en réallouant les activités vers des biens connectés. Nous testons empiriquement cette proposition en utilisant des données d'entreprises chinoises entre 2000 et 2006. En combinant des informations sur la structure de spécialisation locale et les caractéristiques des produits, nous calculons la densité des liens entre chaque produit et l'espace-produit local. Nous confirmons que les connexions du produit avec la structure productive locale joue un rôle important dans la performance à l'exportation des entreprises chinoises. Au sein du panier d'exportations d'une entreprise, la croissance des exportations est

systématiquement plus élevée pour les produits caractérisés par une plus grande cohérence avec les capacités locales. L'effet positif de la connexion inter-produit sur la performance des entreprises exportatrices est toutefois essentiellement limité aux activités de commerce ordinaire et à celles des entreprises nationales. Nos résultats suggèrent en outre que les bénéfices de l'adéquation à la structure locale sont plus élevés pour les entreprises à forte productivité. Ceci est cohérent avec un amoindrissement des externalités lorsque la capacité d'absorption des entreprises est limitée. Les externalités inter-produits ne compensent pas une productivité insuffisante.

### Résumé court

Nous proposons la première évaluation au niveau microéconomique des gains de croissance attendus de la cohérence des activités avec les avantages comparatifs locaux. Sur la base des données douanières chinoises portant sur les entreprises entre 2000 et 2006, nous étudions la relation entre leurs performances à l'exportation et la façon dont leurs produits se rapportent à l'avantage comparatif local. L'indicateur clé mesure la densité des liens entre un produit et l'espace-produit local. Nos résultats indiquent que les exportations croissent plus rapidement pour les produits qui ont des liens plus denses avec ceux qui sont déjà produits dans la localité de l'entreprise. Nous montrons cependant que cet effet positif est limité aux activités commerciales ordinaires et aux entreprises nationales. Il est également plus fort pour les entreprises les plus productives, ce qui suggère que la diffusion des externalités peut être entravée par une capacité d'absorption insuffisante.

*Classification JEL* : F1, O11, O14, O40, O53, R1 *Mots-clefs* : Espace produit, densité, externalités, performance à l'export, Chine

#### **PRODUCT RELATEDNESS AND FIRM EXPORTS IN CHINA**

Sandra Poncet\* Felipe Starosta de Waldemar<sup>†</sup>

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

One of the most impressive dimensions of China's stellar export performance is the rapid diversification of the exports of its products. Since the 1980s, products "Made in China" have pervaded all sectors of world trade, including those that are typically considered to belong to the specialization areas of more developed countries, such as high-tech electronics and computers (Rodrik, 2006; Schott, 2008). China's rapid export upgrading is especially puzzling as the production of goods requires capabilities and products which vary greatly in their knowledge requirements (Hausmann and Hidalgo, 2011). Since countries can only diversify by building on what they already have, China's export diversification suggests a particularly efficient ability to capitalize on its existing productive knowledge and exploit the links between products. Recent work has argued that the main factor behind successful upgrading is the consistency of the new industries with the country's latent (and evolving) comparative advantages (Lin, 2012).

We here empirically test this proposition using 2000-2006 Chinese firm-level data to investigate the link between export performance and the consistency of products with the local productive structure. The density of links between a product and the local product space is calculated by combining information on the local pattern of specialization and the intrinsic relatedness of the product. We thus contribute to the recent revival of literature on the role of structural transformation as an engine of economic growth (McMillan and Rodrik, 2011). The main argument is that not all products have the same degree of relatedness (and hence the same position in the product space); as a result products have different potential, notably as platforms for jumping up to new economic activities (Hausmann and Klinger, 2007a; Hidalgo et al., 2007). Greater link density between products is predicted to yield positive spillovers, such as knowledge externalities and economies of scale and scope. This relationship between production structure and economic performance has been found in a number of macro-level pieces of work: countries which are specialized in products with dense connections to other goods grow faster (Kali et al., 2010; Hidalgo et al., 2007).

The analysis we propose here is micro-level. We exploit Chinese firm-level data to see whether the product space also matters at the level of individual exporters. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first analysis of the efficiency gains from product spillovers on firm export performance. Analogously to the country-level effect, we expect link density between products

<sup>\*</sup>Sandra Poncet Paris School of Economics, Université Paris I and CEPII, 113 rue de Grenelle, 75007 Paris. (sandra.poncet@univ-paris1.fr)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Université Paris 1 - Panthéon Sorbonne.; (felipe.starosta-de-waldemar@univ-paris1.fr).

to yield a premium for products that are close to those in the local export basket. The underlying idea is that they will then share similar requirements in terms of institutions, infrastructure, resources, technology, or some combination thereof. Products with denser connections to the local productive structure should grow faster as they can capitalize on existing local capabilities.

We focus on export growth to measure economic performance. Our analysis thus connects the macro literature on the links between productive structure and development to the micro literature on firm-level export performance. Our work follows recent efforts to understand the drivers of firm product mix (Bernard et al., 2010) and is consistent with models of endogenous within-firm (between products) activity reallocation. We focus on the role of product spillovers in the dynamics of product-level exports. By doing so, we confirm the findings in Bernard et al. (2010) that the within-firm allocation of export activity between products reflects not only firm-and product-level determinants but also factors combining these firm and product dimensions.

Our analysis differs from this existing cross-country work in a number of dimensions. First, we conduct micro-level analysis based on firm-level export data, and hence propose a mechanism via which the productive structure can fuel greater per capita GDP growth. Second, we analyze China to shed light on the country's export performance and rapid upgrading. Our work helps us to understand the ongoing increasing specialization of China's exports (Amiti and Freund, 2010) and highlights the role of product consistency with the local productive structure. Our empirical results suggest that products that are closer to the local export basket receive a premium in firm export bundles. This is consistent with economies of scale and scope and knowledge spillovers from product-level relatedness. Product spillovers produce export upgrading as producers move through the product space by reallocating their activity towards these connected goods.

Third, we consider potential heterogeneity in the impact of product-level connections with the local productive structure according to firm ownership (foreign or domestic)<sup>1</sup>, trade type (processing or ordinary) and firm productivity. We thus contribute to the recent literature on the particularities of processing trade (Manova and Yu, 2012; Dai et al., 2011). A number of pieces of work have emphasized the lack of connection between ordinary activities and those based on imported technology and foreign affiliates (Lemoine and Unal-Kesenci, 2004; Hale and Long, 2011; Blonigen and Ma, 2010). It is argued that this may explain the disappointing results obtained in terms of technological diffusion from processing and foreign activities in China. Fewer spillover gains may emanate from processing and foreign activities as they are less embedded in the local economy. In addition, the distinct functioning of foreign firms, which are mainly engaged in export-platform activities using imported inputs, may limit the spillovers they generate and from which they can benefit. We further investigate whether the gains from product consistency with the local structure are contingent on firm productivity. Potential spillovers may not be realized if firms do not undertake the appropriate technological effort or have limited absorptive capacity (Crespo and Fontoura, 2007). In the context of China,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here and in the rest of the article, we define "foreign firms" as those with some foreign capital ownership: i.e. wholly foreign-owned firms as well as joint ventures (this latter including equity and non-equity joint ventures, and joint cooperatives).

Li (2011) shows that firms more easily absorb domestic technological knowledge than that from foreign technology, and identify a complementarity between in-house and imported technology. We will check these relationships in the density-performance nexus and see whether the benefits from product relatedness depend on the firm ownership and firm productivity. This allows us to determine whether there are firm-level prerequisites for growth-enhancing spillovers from product specialization. Our results also establish the appropriate reference group in terms of the local productive structure for the consistency of specialization in order to maximize spillovers.

We confirm that product-level relatedness with the local productive structure plays a significant role in the export performance of Chinese firms. We show that within a firm's export basket, export growth is systematically higher for products characterized by greater consistency with local capabilities. Our estimations control for unobservable firm and product characteristics and account for agglomeration effects as well as local revealed comparative advantage. The results are robust to a variety of checks and are not confined to the most trade-oriented locations or to the firms that are the most export-orientated. The positive effect of product relatedness on firm export performance is however mainly limited to ordinary trade activities and domestic firms. Our results hence suggest that the export good basket of domestic firms is the key indicator for capabilities and spillover potential at the local level. We further suggest that the export benefits from consistency with local comparative advantage are greater for high-productivity firms. This is consistent with impediments to spillovers related to the limited absorption capacity of firms. Product spillovers are hence no substitute for insufficient productivity.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. The next section presents the data and variable construction. Section 3 then presents our empirical specification and discusses the results. Last, Section 4 concludes.

### 2. INDICATORS AND DATA

Our objective here is to quantify the relatedness between products that are traded in the global economy and to analyze its role in the reshaping of the structure of production in the particular case of China. We hence compute the bilateral relatedness between products and link this to the productive structure of Chinese cities.

### 2.1. Product relatedness

To calculate the intrinsic relatedness between products, we appeal to the Product Space representation developed by Hausmann and Klinger (2007a) and Hidalgo et al. (2007). The Product Space is a network that formalizes the notion of relatedness between products traded in the global economy.

We use the Hidalgo et al. (2007) indicator of proximity based on co-exporting probabilities in the world. A product being co-exported with another product by many countries is held to be an outcome-based measure of relatedness. This reflects the idea that co-exporting shows similar requirements in terms of institutions, infrastructure, resources, technology, or some combination thereof. Producing and exporting computers is, for example, expected to require competencies, technology, inputs and production factors which are similar to those used to produce televisions. Hence, most countries should export both computers and televisions, yielding considerable proximity between the two products. Alternatively, since the necessary requirements for the production and export of products like cheese or natural gas are very different from those for computers, the proximity value between these two products and computers is likely only low.

Bilateral proximity (for each pair of products i and j) is calculated based on the probabilities that countries with comparative advantage in one of the goods (i or j) also have comparative advantage in the other. Revealed comparative advantages are defined using the index in Balassa (1964). A country is said to export a good with comparative advantage when the ratio of the export share of that product in the country's export basket to the analogous worldwide export share is greater than 1. We define Pr(i|j) as the ratio of the number of countries with RCA in both i and j over the number of countries with RCA in i, and Pr(j|i), the ratio of the number of countries with RCA in both i and j over the number of countries with RCA in j. We calculate proximity as the minimum of those two pair-wise conditional probabilities:<sup>2</sup>

$$\phi_{i,j} = \min[\Pr(i|j), \Pr(j|i)] \tag{1}$$

This bilateral relatedness  $\phi_{i,j}$  between products *i* and *j* is calculated for 5016 products, using data for 239 countries in 2000 from the BACI<sup>3</sup> world trade dataset (Gaulier and Zignago, 2010).<sup>4</sup> The matrix of these proximities characterizes the world product space.<sup>5</sup>

Table 1 provides some summary statistics while Table 2 sets out the proximity measures for some particular product pairs, providing illustrative examples of how products are related to each other. Digital computers have a proximity value of 0.02 with oil, so that over the whole sample of countries exporting computers or oil, only 2% export the other product at the same time. This low value clearly indicates distinct requirements needed for the export of the two products. On the contrary, computers have relatively high proximity (0.32) to cars, suggesting that the requirements for computer and car export are quite similar.

#### 2.2. Product density

Our main variable of interest is density, which measures for each locality-product pair the density of links to the local productive structure. As in Hidalgo et al. (2007) and Kali et al.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Taking the minimum of the conditional probabilities eliminates the problem arising when a country is the sole exporter of one particular good: the conditional probability of exporting any other good given this one equals one for all of the other goods exported by that country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This dataset, constructed using original COMTRADE data, provides bilateral trade flows. The BACI dataset is downloadable from http://www.cepii.fr/anglaisgraph/bdd/baci.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The flow dataset is constructed using an original procedure that reconciles the declarations of exporters and importers. The harmonization procedure enables us to extend considerably the number of countries for which trade data are available, as compared to the original dataset.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The product-space framework has been used in different papers on industrial policy and economic development in developing countries. The countries covered include Chile (Hausmann and Klinger, 2007b), South Africa (Hausmann and Klinger, 2008), Ecuador (Hausmann and Klinger, 2010), Algeria (Hausmann et al., 2010) and the Kyrgiz Republic (Usui and Abdon, 2010).

	Mean	Median	Bottom 5%	Top decile
Whole sample	0.14	0.13	0	0.32
Animal and vegetable products	0.11	0.10	0	0.22
Textile	0.24	0.23	0.06	0.46
Machinery / Electrical products	0.22	0.21	0.6	0.41

Table 1 – Summary statistics on proximity

		Cotton	Colour	Digital	Cars,
	Rice	T-shirt	TV	computer	spark ignition
					engine <1000 cc
Oil	0.15	0.08	0.07	0.02	0.02
Rice		0.09	0.04	0	0.09
Cotton T-shirt			0.12	0.06	0.08
Colour TV				0.03	0.4
Digital Computer					0.32

 Table 2 – Bilateral proximity: selected pairs

(2010), density for good i and locality l (Density $_i^l$ ) is calculated as the average of good i's bilateral proximities with the other goods that locality l exports with comparative advantage. The indicator is calculated using the Chinese customs data aggregated to the city level:

$$Density_i^l = \frac{\sum\limits_{j \in RCA^l = 1, j \neq i} \phi_{i,j}}{\sum\limits_{j \neq i} \phi_{i,j}}$$
(2)

The numerator above is the sum of good *i*'s proximities to the products *j* in which locality *l* has revealed comparative advantage ( $RCA^{l} = 1$ ), while the denominator is the sum of proximities to all of the other products that exist in the world product space. For robustness, we check that the results continue to hold when we use the Chinese instead of the World product space as the reference in order to calculate the RCAs.

High density values indicate that locality l has comparative advantage in many goods that are closely related to product i: this product is then densely connected to its locality's product structure. As in Kali et al.  $(2010)^6$  and Hidalgo et al. (2007) density is considered as a proxy for product spillovers emanating from consistent specialization, such as knowledge externalities and economies of scale and scope spillovers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In Kali et al. (2010) the key indicator is a weighted average of density across products measured at the location level. This differs from our density measure which has both location and product dimensions.

#### **3.** Empirical estimations

#### **3.1.** Empirical specification

Our estimations focus on the impact of product-level density of links to the local product space on the export performance of Chinese firms between 2000 and 2006 compiled by the Chinese Customs Trade Statistics (CCTS)<sup>7</sup>.

Our dependent variable is the log of the export value of product k from firm f in locality l in 2006. This is regressed on the 2000 value of the same variable, the first year in our sample, and the density indicator for locality l and product k in 2000, as presented in Section 2. Our specification is:

$$\ln X_{k,2006}^{f} = \alpha \ln X_{k,2000}^{f} + \beta \ln Density_{k,2000}^{l} + \gamma Z_{k,2000}^{l} + \delta_{f} + \eta_{k} + \epsilon_{k}^{f}$$
(3)

We consider, in line with Bernard et al. (2010), three broad determinants of firm product-level export performance: factors that are product-specific but common to all firms; factors that are specific to firms but common to products; and factors that are idiosyncratic to firm-product pairings. The first product-specific category corresponds to factors such as changes in relative demand (i.e. evolving tastes) or relative supply (i.e. technological changes). The second firm-specific category includes factors such as firm size, productivity, diversity of the export basket or the charisma of their founder. We account for these firm- and product-characteristics via fixed effects ( $\delta_f$  and  $\eta_k$  respectively). Since firms do not change locations, the firm fixed effects indirectly account for any location-specific features, such as endowments, governance, income or export performance.

The third category of explanations, into which our density indicator falls, includes firm-product characteristics. Since the density indicator is calculated as the average of good k's bilateral proximities with the other goods that locality l exports with comparative advantage, the export value of product k from firm f does not enter in the computation. The coefficient  $\beta$  on the density indicator captures the influence that product-level linkages with the local productive structure have on firm-level performance. The firm- and product-specific fixed effects already capture any scope economies common to all firms for a given product or to all products for a given firm. An abundant empirical literature on export spillovers (Aitken et al., 1997; Green-away et al., 2004) have evidenced the positive impact of the number of surrounding exporters and foreign firms on firm-level export performance. These dimensions are captured in the firm fixed effects. The firm dummies also capture the impact of the typical proxies for scope economies in the firm export basket: the number of products the firm exports, its total export volume etc. Our estimations thus focus on density of the linkages between a product and the local specialization (which is a product-locality specific feature). Moulton (1990) showed that a regression of individual variables on aggregate variables may produce a downward bias in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This records all merchandise transactions passing through Chinese customs and contains basic firm information (name, address, ownership, etc.), product code (8-digit), and destination country. We collapse the data to 6-digit products for consistency with the international trade data from BACI.

estimed standard errors. All of our regressions are thus clustered at the level of aggregation of the density indicator (locality-product).

Our conditioning set Z is made of two categories of variables in the Z vector. All indicators are computed using values for 2000, the initial year of our sample. We first include proxies for product-specific export spillovers and scope economies in the firm export bundle. Koenig et al. (2010) suggest that agglomeration effects are product specific. We include the number of exporters in the locality which export the same product to account for market and non-market interactions between exporting firms. We also want to account for the externalities occurring in the firm export basket for a given product. These can emerge from cost-sharing devices or information transfers between the various destinations of the firm's exports. We introduce the number of countries to which a firm exports the product under consideration.

Second, we control for supply-side determinants by introducing proxies for local export intensity and comparative advantage. Although the firm fixed effects control for overall exportorientation and the particular conditions of the firms' locality, they do not account for the possibility that firms in locality l enjoy a systematic advantage in exporting a given product k, due to a specific ability that the locality developed over time or specific development strategies implemented by local authorities for this product. Firm fixed effects only take into account these unobserved factors if they affect firms' export performance equally for all products. To control for the possibility that local endowments influence product-level exports differentially, we further introduce the log of the locality product export sales in 2000. As an alternative proxy for local specialization, we also use the Balassa index of revealed comparative advantage at the locality-product level. A higher Balassa index reflects a greater comparative advantage of locality l in product k, with respect to the rest of China. Our final sample covers 107,663 product observations for 11,458 firms located in 294 cities. The summary statistics of all of the variables used in the regressions appear in Table A-1 in the Appendix.

# 3.2. Results

#### 3.2.1. Benchmark

Table 3 shows the estimation results for Equation 3. Our benchmark regression is in Column 1, where we regress the firm-level export value in 2006 on the initial export value in 2000 and product density in 2000. Columns 2 to 4 add controls for agglomeration and comparative advantage. The values of all explanatory variables refer to those in the first year of our data (2000).

Overall, the control variables attract estimated coefficients of the expected signs. That on initial export value is positive and significant with a value below 1 indicating convergence across products in the firm's export basket. This finding is in line with that in Hwang (2007). Our measure of agglomeration economies (number of exporters of the same product in the locality) attracts a positive and significant coefficient. Whether proxied by local export sales or revealed comparative advantage, local specialization positively and significantly affects export performance. In column 4, we further add the number of destinations to which the firm exports the product. This helps to account for scope economies (across destinations) and also acts as a proxy for the

Dependent variable		]	In Firm-proc	luct level exp	ort value in 2	2006	
Model:	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Initial Ln Firm export (HS6 product)	$0.394^{a}$	$0.374^{a}$	0.391 <sup>a</sup>	0.319 <sup>a</sup>	0.319 <sup>a</sup>	$0.320^{a}$	0.316 <sup>a</sup>
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Ln Product density (city, w/r World)	$1.446^{a}$	$0.847^{a}$	$1.295^{a}$	$1.123^{a}$		$1.056^{a}$	$0.650^{a}$
	(0.155)	(0.158)	(0.157)	(0.155)		(0.157)	(0.159)
Ln Product density (city, w/r China)					$1.179^{a}$		
					(0.125)		
Ln city-product export	$0.182^{a}$						
	(0.008)		0.000064	0.000054	0.000040	0.000.54	0.000.54
RCA index (city-product)			$0.00006^{a}$	$0.00005^{a}$	$0.00004^{a}$	$0.00005^{a}$	$0.00005^{a}$
		0.0010	(0.00002)	(0.00002)	(0.00001)	(0.00002)	(0.0002)
No. of exporters (city-product)		$(0.001^{\circ})$	$0.002^{a}$	$(0.002^{\circ})$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.002^{\circ}$	$0.002^{\circ}$
		(0.0003)	(0.0005)	(0.0005)	(0.0005)	(0.0005)	(0.0004)
No. of countries (firm-product)				$(0.066^{\circ\circ})$	$0.066^{\circ\circ}$	$0.066^{\circ\circ}$	$0.065^{\circ}$
And down iter (from a theory was denoted)				(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Av. density (firm-other products)						$-0.0/1^{-1}$	
Ay provinity (firm other products)						(0.229)	0.910a
Av. proximity (initi-other products)							(0.019)
Fixed affects		Firr	n fixed affect	and produc	t (US6) fixed	offocts	(0.038)
		ГШ		is and produc		enecis	
$\parallel R^2$	0.31	0.31	0.31	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32
Observations				107,663	•	•	
Number of firms				11,458			

Table 3 – Density and firm-level exports (2000-2006)

Notes: heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are shown in parentheses; <sup>*a*</sup>, <sup>*b*</sup> and <sup>*c*</sup> respectively denote significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels; the regressions are corrected for clustering at product-locality level. The values of all explanatory variables refer to those in the first year of our data (2000).

firm's export performance for a given product. The firm-product level proxy of export performance enters with the expected positive and significant sign. In all of the specifications, the density indicator attracts a positive coefficient, significant at the 1% level. This indicates that for a given firm export performance is higher for products with denser connections to the local productive structure.

In columns 1 to 4, the density indicator is computed for each prefecture using the World Product Map, i.e. the numerator in Equation 2 only considers the products for which the prefecture has a comparative advantage with respect to the World. In column 5, we instead rely on the China Product Map, so that prefecture-level comparative advantage is calculated using China as the reference. Our results do not seem to depend on the reference (the World or China) chosen to define comparative advantage: the density variable has virtually the same coefficient in columns 4 and 5. In column 6, we further include the firm-specific weighted average of the density of the other products in order to account for potential scope economies across products within the firm.<sup>8</sup> This enters with a significant negative coefficient suggesting that competition rather than positive feedback prevails between products in the firm's export basket. This new variable does not alter the size and significance of the density indicator. In column 7, we control for the average proximity between the good *i* under consideration and the other goods *j* exported by the firm. It is computed as the average of bilateral proximities  $\phi_{i,j}$  as defined in Equation 1. This measure of product-level scope economies enters with the expected positive sign indicating that greater proximity between a product and the rest of the firm export bundle yields export growth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The weights for each product correspond to its share in the firm's residual exports.

gains. These benefits however exist in parallel to the positive effect of density of links with the local structure.

We can interpret the magnitude of the estimated coefficients. Using results of Column 4 as our preferred specification, we compute that, holding other factors constant, a 10% increase in product density raises the export value 6-year later by about the same magnitude.

#### 3.2.2. Robustness checks

In Table 4 we check the robustness of our results. We first see whether our results hold after excluding some particular geographic zones. As emphasized in the literature on Chinese export performance (Amiti and Freund, 2010; Wang and Wei, 2010), a number of Chinese localities are clearly different from the others, in terms of location and policy particularities which have made them richer, faster-growing, more open, and more likely to host firms with rapid export growth. Four prefectures (Beijing, Tianjin, Shanghai and Chongqing), known as the four "super cities", have for example been granted province-level status. This enhanced autonomy has allowed these locations to engage in bolder market-oriented reforms and privatization. Column 1 of Table 4 hence confirms that our results continue to hold when dropping observations from these four province-level cities. Column 2 checks in turn that the results are not driven by observations from interior provinces. The literature on China has underlined an interior-coast divide. Interior locations are considered to be significantly different from the rest of the country: they have more inward-oriented economies and limited success in attracting foreign investment.

Despite the smaller number of firms when observations from those zones are dropped, the firmlevel growth elasticity of density remains significant and of the same size as before, so that the relationship between product relatedness to local productive structure and export growth is not driven by these particular locations. Column 3 reports the results after focusing on special policy zones which account for a dominant share of exports in China.

As described in Wang and Wei (2010), such zones were created by the government, starting in 1979 in Guangdong, in order to promote industrial activity, innovation and exports. They offer low-tax regimes and faster administrative procedures to favor industrial clustering. Since special economic zones contain most Chinese export activity, we should check that our results hold for exporters in these locations. Our estimates are again robust to restricting the sample to these most trade-oriented locations. The coefficient on product density is higher here at 1.62. In the following three columns we exclude cities according to different criteria to see whether that extreme values are behind our results. In column 4 the criterion is the level of total exports in 2000 (excluding the top and bottom percentiles of exporting cities) and in column 5 average density (excluding observations in the top and bottom deciles).<sup>9</sup> In column 6, we exclude observations when there are fewer than three firms exporting the product considered in the city.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The average density in a given location is computed as the weighted average of the product density in the city's export basket, with the weights being the product's export share.

				5																			
	period	2000-01	to	2005-06			(11)	$0.41^{a}$	(0.01)	$0.83^{a}$	(0.13)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.06^{a}$	(0.01)		0.37	143113	ls; the	of our	
	ou	agric.	or	mining	)		(10)	$0.32^a$	(0.01)	$1.14^{a}$	(0.16)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)		0.32	104746	1 10% level	first year o	•
	no firms	with av.	density in	top	& boîtom	decile	(6)	$0.32^a$	(0.01)	$1.50^{a}$	(0.18)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)		0.33	86117	: 1%, 5% and	those in the	
900	no firms	in top	& bottom	1% in terms	of exports	growth	(8)	$0.32^a$	(0.01)	$1.23^{d}$	(0.16)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)	ffects	0.33	101142	nificance at the	uriables refer to	
ort value in 20	no firms	in top	& bottom	1% in	export		(2)	$0.32^{a}$	(0.01)	$0.65^{a}$	(0.10)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)	HS6) fixed e	0.32	79495	ily denote sig	xplanatory va	•
duct level expc	only cities	with no.	of exporters	~2			(9)	$0.31^{a}$	(0.01)	$1.39^{a}$	(0.19)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)	is and product (	0.32	95732	und c respective	values of all e	
Ln Firm-pro	no cities	with av.	density in	top	& boîtom	decile	(2)	$0.33^a$	(0.01)	$1.32^{a}$	(0.19)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)	n fixed effect	0.34	81640	theses; $a, b \epsilon$	ty level. The	
endent variable :	no top	& bottom 1%	exporting	cities			(4)	$0.30^a$	(0.01)	$0.65^{a}$	(0.18)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)	Firr	0.32	89342	e shown in parer	ie product-locali	4
Depe	ou	policy	zones				(3)	$0.30^a$	(0.01)	$1.62^{a}$	(0.22)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)		0.32	79675	d errors ar	tering at th	)
	ou	interior	cities				(2)	$0.32^a$	(0.01)	$1.09^{\acute{a}}$	(0.17)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)		0.32	100336	ust standar	ed for clus	
	no 4	super	cities				(1)	$0.32^{a}$	(0.01)	$1.11^{\acute{a}}$	(0.16)	$0.01^a$	(0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	(0.001)	$0.07^{a}$	(0.01)		0.32	104530	isticity-rob	are correct	
							Model:	Initial Ln Firm	export	Ln Product	density	RCA index		No. of exporters	4	No. of countries			$R^2$	Observations	Notes: heterosked:	regressions	data (2000).
	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006         Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006           no         no         no         no         no         period	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006         Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006           no 4         no         no         no         times         no         period           super         interior         policy         & bottom 1%         with av.         with no.         in top         in top         agric.         2000-01	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006       no 4     no     no     no     no     period       super     interior     policy     & bottom 1%     with av.     with no.     in top     in top     with av.     2000-01       cities     cities     zones     exporting     density in     of exporters     & bottom     density in     or     to	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006no 4nonononoperiodsuperinteriorpolicy & bottom 1%with av.with no.in topin topwith av.2000-01citiescitieszonesexportingdensity inof exporters& bottom& bottomdensity inortocitiescitiestopfin1% in1% in termstopmining2005-06	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006no 4nonononofirmsno firmsno firmsno firmsnono 4nonononocitiesonly citiesnoperiodsupersuperinteriorpolicy& bottom1%with av.agric.2000-01superinteriorpolicy& bottom1%in topin topwith av.agric.2000-01citiescitiesconesexportingdensity inof export%bottomdensity inortocitiescitiestop>21%in1%in termstopmining2005-06decile(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8)(9)(10)(11)	Dependent variable : Ln Firm-product level export value in 2006no 4nononono firmsno firmsno firmsno firmsno periodsuperinteriorpolicy& bottom1%with av.with av.agric.2000-01superinteriorpolicy& bottomfit popin topwith av.agric.2000-01citiescitieszonesexportingdensity inof exporters& bottomdensity inortocitiescitiestop521% in1% in termstopmining2005-06Model:(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(7)(8)000Initial Ln Firm0.32a0.30a0.33a0.31a0.32a0.32a0.32a0.41a	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\label{eq:controllect} \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Table 4 – Density and firm-level exports - Robustness checks

Our results are robust to these tests. We also consider robustness with respect to excluding outlying firms. Column 7 deletes observations from top and bottom percentile exporting firms in 2000. In column 8 the criterion is the growth in the firm's exports between 2000 and 2006. In column 9, we drop observations in the top and bottom deciles of the average density at the firm level.<sup>10</sup> Our density variable remains positive and significant throughout, attesting to the robust association between export growth and consistency with local comparative advantage. In column 10, we delete observations for agricultural and mining products. The point estimate of the coefficient on the density variable is unchanged, indicating that our results do not simply reflect local natural endowments. The final column of Table 4 addresses the issue of zero export flows. As has been well-documented, there is a great deal of churning in firms' export activities (Eaton et al., 2008). Our regressions consider only firm-product pairs for which the export value is positive in 2000 and 2006. We find that 6.3% of the firm-product pairs with positive exports in 2000 but reporting zero exports in 2006 have non-zero exports in 2005. The figure is 3.1% for firms exporting in 2006 reporting zero exports in 2000 but strictly positive exports in 2001. We want to make sure that our finding of a significant effect of density on export growth is not only capturing a particular time event between 2000 and 2006. In column 10, we look at the export growth rate between the average value in 2000 and 2001 and the average export value in 2005 and 2006. As expected the sample size increases but our results (for our variable of interest and the control variables) remain similar. Overall, our results are consistent with the idea that products that are closer to those constituting the local export basket are put at an advantage within a firm's export bundle: they are characterized by faster export growth as firms reallocate their activities towards them.<sup>11</sup>

## 3.2.3. Firm-ownership type and trade type heterogeneity

We now assess whether the relationship between product relatedness and exports depends on the ownership type (domestic or foreign) of exporting firms and the trade regime (processing or ordinary). One interesting feature of the customs dataset is that it allows us to identify whether the export flows emanate from domestic or foreign firms,<sup>12</sup> and correspond to processing or ordinary trade.<sup>13</sup> Processing trade includes all that from firms operating in the assembly sector, which import inputs in order to process them in China and re-export the final products (these producers benefit from a preferential tax regime on imported inputs). In 2006, 53% of Chinese exports were from the processing-trade sector. The processing trade is dominated by foreign entities: in 2006, these accounted for roughly 80% of processing-trade exports.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The firm's average density is computed as the weighted average of the product density in the firm's export basket in 2000, with the weights being the product's export share.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In unreported results available upon request, we check that our main message holds when defining products at the 4-digit level of the harmonized system instead of the 6-digit level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The data are reported separately by firm type, including foreign-owned firms, Sino-foreign joint ventures, collective firms, private firms and state-owned firms. We consider the first two categories as foreign and the other three as domestic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The data also refer to a third ("Others") category that covers other flows such as Aid, border trade and consignment. This overall represents less than 1% of total trade value. When we consider the processing/ordinary trade distinction, this category is dropped.

A number of pieces of work have emphasized the disconnection between ordinary activities and those based on imported technology and foreign affiliates (Lemoine and Unal-Kesenci, 2004; Hale and Long, 2006; Blonigen and Ma, 2010). We suspect that firms engaged in the latter activity are less embedded in their local environment, and consequently that their export performance relates less to the adequation between their products and the local productive structure.

Table 5 distinguishes between domestic firms and foreign firms when looking at product spillovers and exports. In columns 1 and 2 we calculate two density indices according to whether the city's domestic or foreign export bundle is used as the reference to identify the revealed comparative advantage in Equation 2. We continue to find a positive (although weaker) association between density and export performance when the former is calculated using the specialization pattern of domestic firms. By way of contrast the impact is negative when we use foreign firms as the reference. The following columns in Table 5 consider the association between product density and export performance separately for domestic (columns 3 to 6) and foreign (columns 7 to 10) firms.

The results are robust whatever the time span considered, and suggest that consistency of the firm's products with the local productive structure is export-enhancing only for domestic firms. Table 6 explores one possible explanation for the lack of any relationship for foreign firms: a considerable proportion of foreign-firm trade is made up of processing trade. The lack of association between density and export performance may then simply reflect that the growth in the value of foreign-firm exports relates mainly to the value and quality of their imported inputs and to strategies used in the international division of production. As firms engaged in processing trade "simply" import inputs and re-export the transformed product, we can imagine that they are less embedded in their direct environment and consequently do not react to product-level externalities.

Table 6 distinguishes exports by type: columns 1 and 2 cover all firms and refer to ordinary (ODT) and processing (PCS) export flows respectively, while columns 3 and 4 focus on domestic firms, and columns 5 and 6 foreign firms.

Dependent variable					Ln Firm-le	vel export	value				
Time period					20	00-2006					_
Firm ownership type	A (i	, I	ć	Dom	lestic	Ś	ţ	ц (	oreign	ŝ	
Model:	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(c)	(9)	(1)	(8)	(6)	(10)	
Initial Ln Firm export	$0.32^{a}$	$0.32^{a}$	$0.26^{a}$	$0.26^{a}$	$0.26^{a}$	$0.26^{a}$	$0.40^{a}$	$0.40^{a}$	$0.40^{a}$	$0.40^{a}$	
Ln Product density	(10.0)	(10.0)	(0.01) 1.38 <sup>a</sup> (0.17)	(10.01)	(10.01)	(10.0)	(0.01) 0.16 0.36)	(0.01)	(10.0)	(0.01)	
Ln Product density - Domestic	$0.04^{c}$		(11.0)	$0.43^{a}$		$0.43^{a}$	(00.0)	-0.01		-0.01	
Ln Product density- Foreign		$-0.08^{a}$ (0.01)			$-0.07^{a}$ (0.01)	$-0.07^{a}$ (0.01)			0.25 (0.16)	(0.16)	
RCA index	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)	$0.01^{a}$	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)		$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)	$0.01^{a}$ (0.001)		
RCA index - Domestic						0.01				0.01	
RCA index - Foreign						(10.0) 0.01				(0.01) 0.01	
No of evolutions	0.01a	0.01 <i>a</i>	0.01a	0.01 <i>a</i>	0.01a	(0.01)	0.01 <i>a</i>	0.01a	0.01a	(0.01)	
NO. OI EXPOLICIS	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
No. of countries	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^a$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^a$	$0.07^{a}$	$0.07^{a}$	
	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)	
			H	irm fixed (	effects and	product (J	HS6) fixed	effects			
$R^2$	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.42	0.42	0.42	0.42	
Observations	107663	107663	71642	71642	71642	71642	35468	35468	35468	35468	
Note: heteroskedasticity-robust	standard er	rors are sh	own in pa	rentheses;	a, b and $c$	respective	ly denote a	significanc	te at the 1%	5% and 10%	1
levels; the regressions are	corrected f	or clusteri	ng at the p	roduct-loc	ality level.	The valu	es of all ex	planatory	variables re	fer to those in	
the first year of our data (2	:000).										

Table 5 – Density and firm-level exports: ownership heterogeneity

· · · ·			• 1			
Dependent variable		ln Firm	n level exp	ort value	in 2006	
Firm ownership type	All f	îrms	Domest	tic firms	Foreig	n firms
Trade type	ODT	PCS	ODT	PCS	ODT	PCS
Model:	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Initial Ln Firm export (HS6)	$0.245^{a}$	$0.404^{a}$	0.216 <sup>a</sup>	0.390 <sup>a</sup>	0.345 <sup>a</sup>	0.391 <sup>a</sup>
	(0.005)	(0.009)	(0.005)	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.011)
Ln Product density (city, w/r World)	$0.889^{a}$	0.469	0.969 <sup>a</sup>	$0.874^{c}$	1.004	0.365
	(0.188)	(0.354)	(0.202)	(0.486)	(0.615)	(0.542)
RCA index (city, w/r World)	0.001 <sup>a</sup>	0.001	0.001 <sup>a</sup>	0.001	0.001	$0.001^{b}$
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No. of exporters (city HS6)	$0.004^{a}$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.002^{b}$	$0.001^{a}$
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Firm-product level nb of countries	$0.075^{a}$	$0.045^{a}$	$0.075^{a}$	$0.033^{a}$	$0.078^{a}$	$0.052^{a}$
	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.007)	(0.007)
	Firm	fixed effe	cts and pr	oduct (HS	6) fixed e	ffects
Observations	78087	31205	61904	10131	16183	21074
$ R^2$	0.299	0.427	0.307	0.557	0.423	0.398

Table 6 - Density and firm-level exports - Trade type heterogeneity

Notes: heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are shown in parentheses; <sup>*a*</sup>, <sup>*b*</sup> and <sup>*c*</sup> respectively denote significance at the 1%, 5% and 10% levels; the regressions are corrected for clustering at product-locality level. The values of all explanatory variables refer to those in the first year of our data (2000).

The results consistently show that the positive effect of product density on export growth is mainly found for the ordinary export activities of domestic firms. There is seemingly no export value growth premium for processing (PCS) trade flows: the estimated coefficients are either insignificant (for all firms or for foreign firms) or only significant at the 10% confidence level when restricting the sample to domestic firms. The density of links between the exported product and the local productive structure is on the contrary linked with faster export growth for ordinary transactions. The decomposition by firm type shows that the average export premium is more relevant for domestic firms (significant at the 1% significance level) than for foreign firms (significant only at the 10% level). Our results are consistent with ordinary trade activities being more embedded in the Chinese industrial context. They thus support work recommending that assembly trade and foreign entities be distinguished from ordinary trade and domestic exporters for the analysis of the structure, determinants and consequences of Chinese export performance (Schott, 2008; Jarreau and Poncet 2012). More concretely, our findings underline the distinctive functioning of the export-platform activities of foreign firms compared to the ordinary exports of domestic firms. From a policy perspective, they suggest that export promotion should concentrate on products which correspond to local domestic core competencies.

# 3.2.4. The role of firm-level efficiency

We now investigate heterogeneity in the effect of product density as a function of the exporting firm's productivity. This is an important issue. As foreign firms have been shown to be much more productive than domestic firms in China, an alternative interpretation of weak effect of product density for foreign firms (and in processing trade, which is dominated by foreign firms) is that adequation with the local productive structure is unimportant for the export performance of the most productive firms. We can test this argument by comparing high- and low-productivity firms. Another rationale for this test relates to absorptive capacity. A number of pieces of work have identified limited absorptive capacity and the absence of appropriate technological effort as undermining spillovers (Crespo and Fontoura, 2007).

As absorptive capacity is likely proportional to productivity, we expect the link between density and export performance to rise with firm efficiency. We consider three alternative proxies for firm-level efficiency in the customs dataset: the number of product-country pairs covered by the firm's exports; the number of products the firm exports; and the number of countries to which the firm exports. These are calculated for the year 2000.

Table 7 splits the sample by initial exporter productivity. We use two alternative cut-offs: the mean and the median. The estimated coefficient in odd columns (high-productivity exporters) is always higher than that in even columns (low-productivity exporters). The product-level spillovers related to adequation with the local productive structure are thus especially important for high-productivity exporters. Table 8 reproduces Table 7 for domestic firms only, where the respective cut-offs now also only refer to domestic firms. The results are unchanged, with the estimated coefficient being roughly four times higher for high-productivity firms. In unreported results we considered heterogeneity for foreign-owned firms.<sup>14</sup> These confirm the insignificance of product density for foreign firms whatever the productivity level. The conditional effect of product density by initial exporter productivity is thus particular to domestic firms. Our findings therefore suggest that spillover diffusion can indeed be hindered by insufficient absorptive capacity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Firms are here split into high and low productivity using the cut-offs calculated using only foreign firms.

Dependent variable:	In Firm I	Export valu	te of produ	lct k in $200$	9(								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(1)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
			No. produ	ct/country			No. pr	oducts			No. of c	ountries	
		Ŭ	ean	Mec	lian	Me	an	Mer	dian	Ŵ	ean	Mec	lian
		V	^	V	^	V	^	V	^	V	^	V	^
Initial Ln Firm export	$0.320^{a}$	$0.338^{a}$	$0.2\overline{3}2^{a}$	$0.375^{a}$	$0.243^a$	$0.340^a$	$0.234^a$	$0.379^{a}$	$0.240^{a}$	$0.367^a$	$0.236^{a}$	$0.370^a$	$0.242^{a}$
(product)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.008)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.008)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Ln product density	$1.123^{a}$	$0.658^{a}$	$2.665^{a}$	$0.735^{a}$	$1.598^{a}$	$0.670^{a}$	$2.302^{a}$	$0.755^{a}$	$1.610^{a}$	$0.589^{a}$	$1.737^{a}$	$0.487^{b}$	$1.831^{a}$
city, w/r World)	(0.155)	(0.185)	(0.294)	(0.240)	(0.208)	(0.189)	(0.279)	(0.247)	(0.204)	(0.228)	(0.219)	(0.242)	(0.209)
RCA index	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.004^a$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{b}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$
(city, w/r World)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No. of exporters	$0.002^{a}$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.005^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$
(city-product)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No. of countries	$0.066^{a}$	$0.073^{a}$	$0.059^{a}$	$0.078^{a}$	$0.067^{a}$	$0.071^{a}$	$0.060^{a}$	$0.071^{a}$	$0.067^{a}$	$0.090^{\acute{a}}$	$0.068^{a}$	$0.096^{a}$	$0.068^{a}$
(firm-product)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)
Observations	107663	78879	28784	53821	53842	78042	29621	53771	53892	57159	50504	53821	53842
$\parallel R^2$	0.321	0.328	0.397	0.370	0.337	0.333	0.385	0.380	0.331	0.360	0.345	0.361	0.345
Notes: heteroskedasticity	/-robust st	undard errc	ors are show	wn in parei	ntheses; $a$ ,	b and $c$ res	spectively	denote sig	inificance a	at the 1%,	5% and 10	% levels;	the
regressions are cc	prrected for	r clustering	z at produc	t-locality l	evel. The	values of a	ll explana	tory variat	oles refer to	o those in 1	the first ye	ar of our d	ata
(2000).		,	•	•			•	•			•		

firms
all
productivity:
firm
by
- Heterogeneity
Table '

*CEPII, WP No 2012 – 27* 

Dependent variable:	Ln Firm	Export val	lue of prod	uct $k \text{ in } 20$	90(								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(1)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
			No. produ	ct/country			No. pr	oducts			No. of c	ountries	
		Ŵ	ean	Mec	lian	Mé	an	Me	dian	βM	ean	Mec	lian
		V		V		V		V		V		V	
Initial Ln Firm export	$0.263^{a}$	$0.255^{a}$	$0.251^{a}$	$0.270^a$	$0.238^a$	$0.267^a$	$0.233^a$	$0.271^{a}$	$0.235^a$	$0.274^a$	$0.232^{a}$	$0.276^a$	$0.231^{a}$
(product)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.00)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)
Ln product density	$1.399^{a}$	$0.822^{a}$	$3.267^{a}$	$0.550^{b}$	$2.359^{a}$	$0.778^{a}$	$2.635^{a}$	$0.583^{b}$	$2.388^{a}$	$1.010^{a}$	$1.931^{a}$	$0.994^{a}$	$1.915^{a}$
city, w/r World)	(0.172)	(0.199)	(0.379)	(0.243)	(0.256)	(0.218)	(0.302)	(0.243)	(0.256)	(0.239)	(0.255)	(0.240)	(0.255)
RCA index	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.004^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$	$0.002^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$	$0.004^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$	$0.002^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{a}$	$0.001^{d}$	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$	$0.001^{\acute{a}}$
city, w/r World)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No. of exporters	$0.003^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.005^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.005^{a}$	$0.002^{a}$	$0.005^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$	$0.003^{a}$	$0.004^{a}$
(city-product)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
No. of countries	$0.069^{a}$	$0.076^{a}$	$0.056^{a}$	$0.080^{d}$	$0.063^{a}$	$0.075^{a}$	$0.060^{a}$	$0.078^{a}$	$0.062^{a}$	$0.086^{a}$	$0.064^{a}$	$0.086^{a}$	$0.065^{a}$
(firm-product)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.002)
Observations	71890	51023	20867	35869	36021	44526	27364	35867	36023	35435	36455	34 668	37222
$R^2$	0.318	0.308	0.436	0.328	0.368	0.318	0.395	0.334	0.362	0.330	0.366	0.331	0.364
Notes: heteroskedasticity	v-robust sta	andard erre	ors are show	wn in pare.	ntheses; $a$ ,	, <sup>b</sup> and <sup>c</sup> re	spectively	denote sig	uificance :	at the 1%,	5% and 10	% levels;	the
regressions are co	prrected for	r clustering	g at produc	t and loca	lity level.	The values	s of all exp	danatory v	ariables re	fer to thos	e in the fir	st year of e	our
data (2000).			-		•		•	•				•	

Table 8 – Heterogeneity by firm productivity: domestic firms

## 4. CONCLUSION

We here propose the first evaluation using micro-level data of the expected growth gains from the consistency of activities with local comparative advantage. Using firm level data from Chinese customs over 2000-2006, we investigate the relationship between the export performance of firms and how their products relate to local comparative advantage. Our key indicator measures the density of the links between a product and the local product space. It hence combines information on the intrinsic relatedness of a good with that on the local pattern of specialization. Our results indicate that exports grow faster for goods that have denser links with those currently produced in the firm's locality. This is consistent with the density of links between products giving rise to export-enhancing spillovers. We however find that this positive export effect is mainly limited to domestic firms and ordinary trade activities. This is consistent with the firms (mostly foreign) which are engaged in processing trade activity being less embedded in their local environment, and consequently their export performance being less related to the adequation of their products to the local productive structure. Moreover, this relationship is stronger for more productive firms, indicating that spillover diffusion is contingent upon sufficient absorptive capacity.

## 5. **References**

- Aitken, Brian, Gordon H. Hanson, and Ann E. Harrison. 1997. "Spillovers, foreign investment and export behavior." *Journal of International Economics* 42(1-2): 103-122
- Amiti, Mary, and Caroline Freund. 2010. "The Anatomy of China's Export Growth." In Robert Feenstra, and Shang-Jin Wei, eds., *China's Growing Role in World Trade*. NBER, pp.35-56, University of Chicago Press.
- Balassa, Bela. 1964. "The Purchasing Power Parity Doctrine A Reappraisal." *Journal of Political Economy* 72(6): 584-596.
- Bernard, Andrew B., Stephen J. Redding, and Peter K. Schott. 2010. "Multiple-Product Firms and Product Switching." *American Economic Review* 100(1): 70-97.
- Blonigen, Bruce A., and Alyson C. Ma. 2010. "Please Pass the Catch-Up: The Relative Performance of Chinese and Foreign Firms in Chinese Exports". In Robert Feenstra, and Shang-Jin Wei, eds., *China's Growing Role in World Trade*. NBER, pp.475-509, University of Chicago Press.
- Crespo, Nuno, and Maria Paula Fontoura. 2007. "Determinant Factors of FDI Spillovers What Do We Really Know?" *World Development* 35(3): 410-425.
- Dai, Mi, Madhura Maitra, and Miaojie Yu. 2011. "Unexceptional Exporter Performance in China? The Role of Processing Trade." Mimeo.
- Eaton, Jonathan, Marcela Eslava, Maurice Kugler, and James Tybout. 2008. "Export Dynamics in Colombia: Transactions Level Evidence." Mimeo.
- Gaulier, Guillaume, and Soledad Zignago. 2010. "BACI: International Trade Database at the Product-Level. The 1994-2007 Version." Working Papers 2010-23, CEPII Research Center.
- Greenaway, David, Nuno Sousa, and Katharine Wakelin. 2004. "Do domestic firms learn to export from multinationals?" *European Journal of Political Economy* 20(4): 1027-1043.
- Hale, Galina, and Cheryl Long (2011): "Are There Productivity Spillovers From Foreign Direct Investment In China?" *Pacific Economic Review* 16(2): 135-153.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, and Cesar Hidalgo. 2011. "The network structure of economic output." *Journal of Economic Growth* 16: 309-342.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, and Bailey Klinger. 2007a. "The Structure of the Product Space and the Evolution of Comparative Advantage." CID Working Paper No. 146, Harvard University.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, and Bailey Klinger. 2007b. "Structural Transformation in Chile", Discussion Paper, Harvard University.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, and Bailey Klinger. 2008. "South Africas's export predicament." *The Economics of Transition* 16(4): 609-637.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, and Bailey Klinger. 2010. "Structural Transformation in Ecuador." Discussion Paper, Inter-American Development Bank Policy Brief 112.
- Hausmann, Ricardo, Bailey Klinger, and Jose Lopez-Calix. 2010. "Export Diversification in Algeria." In Jose Lopez-Calix, Peter Walkenhorst, and Ndiame Diop, eds., *Trade competitiveness in North Africa and Middle East*. The World Bank

- Hidalgo, Cesar, Bailey Klinger, Albert-Laszlo Barabasi, and Ricardo Hausmann. 2007. "The Product Space Conditions the Development of Nations." *Science* 317(5837): 482-487.
- Hwang, Jason, 2007, "Patterns of Specialization and Economic Growth," unpublished Ph.D dissertation, Economics Department, Harvard University.
- Jarreau, Joachim, and Sandra Poncet. 2012. "Export sophistication and economic growth: Evidence from China." *Journal of Development Economics* 97(2): 281-292.
- Kali, Raja, Javier Reyes, Josh McGee, and Stuart Shirrell. 2010. "Growth Networks." Discussion Paper, University of Arkansas.
- Koenig, Pamina, Florian Mayneris, and Sandra Poncet. 2010. "Local export spillovers in France." *European Economic Review* 54(4): 622-641.
- Lemoine, Francoise, and Deniz Unal-Kesenci. 2004. "Assembly Trade and Technology Transfer: The Case of China." *World Development* 32(5): 829-850.
- Li, Xibao. 2011. "Sources of External Technology, Absorptive Capacity, and Innovation Capability in Chinese State-Owned High-Tech Enterprises." *World Development* 39(7): 1240-1248.
- Lin, Justin Yifu. 2012. "New Structural Economics: A Framework for Rethinking Development and Policy." The World Bank.
- Manova, Kalina, and Zhihong Yu. 2012. "Processing vs. Ordinary Trade in China." Mimeo.
- McMillan, Margaret S., and Dani Rodrik. 2011. "Globalization, Structural Change and Productivity Growth." NBER Working Papers 17143, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.
- Moulton, Brent R. 1990. "An Illustration of a Pitfall in Estimating the Effects of Aggregate Variables on Micro Unit." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 72(2): 334-338.
- Rodrik, Dani. 2006. "What's So Special about China's Exports?" *China & World Economy* 14(5): 1-19.
- Schott, Peter K. 2008. "The relative sophistication of Chinese exports." *Economic Policy* 23: 5-49.
- Usui, Norio, and Arcelyn Abdon. 2010. "Structural Transformation in the Kyrgyz Republic: Engineering Future Paths of Capability Accumulation." ADB Economics Working Paper Series 200, Asian Development Bank.
- Wang, Zhi, and Shang-Jin Wei. 2010. "What Accounts for the Rising Sophistication of China's Exports?" In Robert Feenstra, and Shang-Jin Wei, eds., *China's Growing Role in World Trade*. NBER, pp.63-104, University of Chicago Press.

# 6. APPENDIX

			-	
Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min.	Max.
Firm-product export value 2006 (million \$)	1.4	25.7	0.1	4,480
Firm-product export value 2000 (million \$)	0.7	5.41	0.1	517
RCA index (product-locality)	33.84	628.10	0.1	87,589
City-product export value (million \$)	18	105	0.1	338
Density (product-locality)	0.198	0.076	0.002	0.46
Density (product-locality) Domestic	0.207	0.077	0.002	0.44
Density (product-locality) Foreign	0.112	0.044	0.001	0.28
No. exporters (product-locality)	39.33	63.39	1	754
No. countries (firm-product)	3.56	5.41	1	91

Table A-1 – Summary statistics N=107663

# LIST OF WORKING PAPERS RELEASED BY CEPII

An Exhaustive list is available on the website: \\www.cepii.fr.

No	Title	Authors
2012-26	Export Upgrading and Growth: the Prerequisite of Domestic Embeddedness	S. Poncet & F. Starosta de Waldemar
2012-25	Time to Ship During Financial Crises	N. Berman, J. de Sousa P. Martin & T. Mayer
2012-24	Foreign Ownership Wage Premium: Does financial Health Matter?	M. Bas
2012-23	Tax Reform and Coordination in a Currency Union	B. Carton
2012-22	The Unequal Effects of Financial Development on Firms' Growth in India	M. Bas & A. Berthou
2012-21	Pegging Emerging Currencies in the Face of Dollar Swings	V. Coudert, C. Couharde & V. Mignon
2012-20	On the Links between Stock and Comodity Markets' Volatility	A. Creti, M. Joëts & V. Mignon
2012-19	European Export Performance, Angela Cheptea	A. Cheptea, L. Fontagné & S. Zignago
2012-18	The Few Leading the Many: Foreign Affiliates and Business Cycle Comovement	J. Kleinert, J. Martin & F. Toubal
2012-17	Native Language, Spoken Language, Translation and Trade	J. Melitz & F. Toubal
2012-16	Assessing the Price-Raising Effect of Non-Tariff Measures in Africa	O.Cadot & J.Gourdon

No	Title	Authors
2012-15	International Migration and Trade Agreements: the New Role of PTAs	G. Orefice
2012-14	Scanning the Ups and Downs of China's Trade Imbalances	F. Lemoine & D. Ünal
2012-13	Revisiting the Theory of Optimum Currency Areas: Is the CFA Franc Zone Sustainable?	C. Couharde, I. Coulibaly, D. Guerreiro & V. Mignon
2012-12	Macroeconomic Transmission of Eurozone Shocks to Emerging Economies	B. Erten
2012-11	The fiscal Impact of Immigration in France: a Generational Accounting Approach	X. Chojnicki
2012-10	MAcMap-HS6 2007, an Exhaustive and Consistent Measure of Applied Protection in 2007	H. Guimbard, S. Jean, M. Mimouni & X. Pichot
2012-09	Regional Integration and Natural Resources: Who Benefits? Evidence from MENA	C. Carrère, J. Gourdon & M. Olarreaga
2012-08	A Foreign Direct Investment Database for Global CGE Models	C. Gouël, H. Guimbard & D. Laborde
2012-07	On Currency Misalignments within the Euro Area	V. Coudert, C. Couharde & V. Mignon
2012-06	How Frequently Firms Export? Evidence from France	G. Békés, L. Fontagné, B. Muraközy & V. Vicard
2012-05	Fiscal Sustainability in the Presence of Systemic Banks: the Case of EU Countries	A. Bénassy-Quéré & G. Roussellet
2012-04	Low-Wage Countries' Competition, Reallocation across Firms and the Quality Content of Exports	J. Martin & I. Méjean

No	Title	Authors
2012-03	The Great Shift: Macroeconomic Projections for the World Economy at the 2050 Horizon	J. Fouré, A. Bénassy-Quéré & L. Fontagné
2012-02	The Discriminatory Effect of Domestic Regulations on International Services Trade: Evidence from Firm- Level Data	M. Crozet, E. Milet & D. Mirza
2012-01	Optimal food price stabilization in a small open developing country	C. Gouël & S. Jean
2011-33	Export Dynamics and Sales at Home	N. Berman, A. Berthou & J. Héricourt
2011-32	Entry on Difficult Export Markets by Chinese Domestic Firms: The Role of Foreign Export Spillovers	F. Mayneris & S. Poncet
2011-31	French Firms at the Conquest of Asian Markets: The Role of Export Spillovers	F. Mayneris & S. Poncet
2011-30	Environmental Policy and Trade Performance: Evidence from China	L. Hering & S. Poncet
2011-29	Immigration, Unemployment and GDP in the Host Country: Bootstrap Panel Granger Causality Analysis on OECD Countries	E. Boubtane D. Coulibaly & C. Rault
2011-28	Index Trading and Agricultural Commodity Prices: A Panel Granger Causality Analysis	G. Capelle-Blancard & D. Coulibaly
2011-27	The Impossible Trinity Revised: An Application to China	B. Carton
2011-26	Isolating the Network Effect of Immigrants on Trade	M. Aleksynska & G. Peri
2011-25	Notes on CEPII's Distances Measures: The GeoDist Database	T. Mayer & S. Zignago
2011-24	Estimations of Tariff Equivalents for the Services Sectors	L. Fontagné, A. Guillin & C. Mitaritonna

No	Title	Authors
2011-23	Economic Impact of Potential Outcome of the DDA	Y. Decreux & L. Fontagné
2011-22	More Bankers, more Growth? Evidence from OECD Countries	G. Capelle-Blancard & C. Labonne
2011-21	EMU, EU, Market Integration and Consumption Smoothing	A. Christev & J. Mélitz
2011-20	Real Time Data and Fiscal Policy Analysis	J. Cimadomo
2011-19	On the inclusion of the Chinese renminbi in the SDR basket	A. Bénassy-Quéré & D. Capelle
2011-18	Unilateral trade reform, Market Access and Foreign Competition: the Patterns of Multi-Product Exporters	M. Bas & P. Bombarda
2011-17	The "Forward Premium Puzzle" and the Sovereign Default Risk	V. Coudert & V. Mignon
2011-16	Occupation-Education Mismatch of Immigrant Workers in Europe: Context and Policies	M. Aleksynska & A. Tritah
2011-15	Does Importing More Inputs Raise Exports? Firm Level Evidence from France	M. Bas & V. Strauss-Kahn
2011-14	Joint Estimates of Automatic and Discretionary Fiscal Policy: the OECD 1981-2003	J. Darby & J. Mélitz
2011-13	Immigration, vieillissement démographique et financement de la protection sociale : une évaluation par l'équilibre général calculable appliqué à la France	X. Chojnicki & L. Ragot
2011-12	The Performance of Socially Responsible Funds: Does the Screening Process Matter?	G. Capelle-Blancard & S. Monjon
2011-11	Market Size, Competition, and the Product Mix of Exporters	T. Mayer, M. Melitz & G. Ottaviano
2011-10	The Trade Unit Values Database	A. Berthou & C. Emlinger

No	Title	Authors
2011-08	Rebalancing Growth in China: An International Perspective	A. Bénassy-Quéré, B. Carton & L. Gauvin
2011-07	Economic Integration in the EuroMed: Current Status and Review of Studies	J. Jarreau
2011-06	The Decision to Import Capital Goods in India: Firms' Financial Factors Matter	A. Berthou & M. Bas
2011-05	FDI from the South: the Role of Institutional Distance and Natural Resources	M. Aleksynska & O. Havrylchyk
2011-04b	What International Monetary System for a fast- changing World Economy?	A. Bénassy-Quéré & J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-04a	Quel système monétaire international pour une économie mondiale en mutation rapide ?	A. Bénassy-Quéré & J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-03	China's Foreign Trade in the Perspective of a more Balanced Economic Growth	G. Gaulier, F. Lemoine & D. Ünal
2011-02	The Interactions between the Credit Default Swap and the Bond Markets in Financial Turmoil	V. Coudert & M. Gex
2011-01	Comparative Advantage and Within-Industry Firms Performance	M. Crozet & F. Trionfetti

Organisme public d'étude et de recherche en économie internationale, le CEPII est placé auprès du Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Son programme de travail est fixé par un conseil composé de responsables de l'administration et de personnalités issues des entreprises, des organisations syndicales et de l'Université.

Les *documents de travail* du CEPII mettent à disposition du public professionnel des travaux effectués au CEPII, dans leur phase d'élaboration et de discussion avant publication définitive. Les *documents de travail* sont publiés sous la responsabilité de la direction du CEPII et n'engagent ni le conseil du Centre, ni le Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Les opinions qui y sont exprimées sont celles des auteurs.

Les *documents de travail* du CEPII sont disponibles sur le site : http://www.cepii.fr.